
    UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
    EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 
    SOUTHERN DIVISION – PIKEVILLE 
 
                                                                                                                                                  
    ) 
COMMUNITY TRUST BANK, INC.,  ) Civil Action No. ________________ 
A Kentucky Corporation,  ) 
    ) Judge _________________________ 
  Plaintiff, )  
    ) 
V.    ) 
    )  COMPLAINT  
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER ) 
& SMITH INCORPORATED ) 
    ) 
  Defendant. )   
    )  
 
 The Plaintiff, Community Trust Bank, Inc. (“Community Trust”), through counsel, for its 

Complaint against the Defendant, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (“Merrill 

Lynch”), respectfully states as follows: 

THE PARTIES 

1. Community Trust is a Kentucky corporation with its principal offices and place of 

business in Pikeville, Kentucky, as well as offices and banking facilities located in other parts of 

the Eastern District of Kentucky.  Community Trust purchased auction rate securities 

underwritten and sold by Merrill Lynch.  As a result of the collapse of the auction rate securities 

market in February 2008, Community Trust now holds such securities being unable to sell them.   

2. The Defendant, Merrill Lynch, is incorporated in Delaware with its principal 

executive offices located in New York, New York.  Merrill Lynch is a wholly owned subsidiary 

of Merrill Lynch & Co. and is registered with the SEC as a broker-dealer pursuant to § 15(b) of 

the Exchange Act.  Merrill Lynch is also a member of the New York Stock Exchange (the 

“NYSE”) and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (the “FINRA”).  Merrill Lynch is 

resident and maintains offices within this Judicial District and throughout the Commonwealth of 
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Kentucky, including offices located at 109 Prater Place, Pikeville, Kentucky.  Merrill Lynch’s 

Registered Agent for service of process is CT Corporation Systems, 4169 Outlook Road, 

Louisville, Kentucky  40207. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This District Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332 and 1337; and § 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa).  The 

claims asserted herein arise under § 10(b) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and Rule 

10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the Securities Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) (17 C.F.R. 

240.10b-5) as well as under Kentucky statutory and common law.  This Court has supplemental  

jurisdiction over the state law claims asserted herein by Community Trust pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1367 because the state law claims arise from the same operative facts and form part of the 

same case or controversy as the claim brought pursuant to the Exchange Act.  

4. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to § 27 of the Exchange Act (15 

U.S.C. § 78aa) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b), 1332 and 1337.   

5. The Defendant Merrill Lynch is resident and maintains offices within this Judicial 

District, at 109 Prater Place, Pikeville, Kentucky, and may therefore be sued within this Judicial 

District and this Division of the Eastern District of Kentucky pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b). 

6. In addition, certain of the acts giving rise to the violations complained of in this 

Complaint took place or were facilitated within this Judicial District by Merrill Lynch.   

7. In connection with the acts alleged by Community Trust in this Complaint, 

Merrill Lynch, directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce 

including, but not limited to, the mails, interstate telephone communications and the facilities of 

the national securities markets to fraudulently and/or negligently induce Community Trust to 

purchase the auction rate securities at issue in this litigation.   
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
REGARDING AUCTION RATE SECURITIES 

 
8. The term “auction rate secur ity” typically refers to either municipal or corporate 

debt securities or preferred stock which pay interest at rates set at periodic “auctions.”  Auction 

rate securities generally have long-term maturities, and in the case of preferred stocks, no 

maturity date. 

9. Auction rate securities were first introduced in the 1980s.  Since then, the market 

for auction rate securities grew dramatically and the estimated value of auction rate securities in 

existence prior to the collapse of the auction market was around $350 billion. 

10. Investments in auction rate securities were initially limited to institutional 

investors with required minimums of $250,000.  In recent years, however, issuers and sellers of 

auction rate securities have lowered the minimum amount invested to $25,000 in an effort to 

market auction rate securities as widely as possible to the general public. 

11. Auction rate securities were auctioned at par value, so the return on the 

investment to the investor and the cost of financing to the issuer were determined by the interest 

rate or dividend yield set through the auction.  The method for auctioning the securities was 

described in the prospectus of the fund through which they were offered, with the formula 

generally being substantially similar for all securities offered as auction rate securities. 

12. The number of days between each auction was set by the prospectus utilized.  

Generally, the auctions were held every 7, 28 or 35 days, with interest being paid at the end of 

the auction period. 

13. The auction itself was of the type commonly referred to as a “Dutch” auction, i.e., 

one where the price was initially set at a presumably economically unattractive level and then 

made more attractive to purchasers throughout the course of the auction.  For auction rate 
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securities, bids with successively higher rates were offered until all of the securities at the 

auction were sold. 

14. At the end of the auction, the rate at which all of the securities were sold was set 

uniformly and was called the “clearing rate.”  If there were not enough orders to purchase all the 

shares being sold at the auction, a “failed” auction occurred.  In the event of a failed auction, 

none of the securities holders could sell their securities.  An auction failure would therefore 

create a liquidity crisis for Merrill Lynch’s auction rate securities customers like Community 

Trust, which has been unable to cash or sell its securities.  

15. To prevent failed auctions, Merrill Lynch placed orders for its own account 

through the use of “support bids.”  Support bids were proprietary bids placed by Merrill Lynch 

through which Merrill Lynch purchased auction rate securities where there would otherwise be 

insufficient demand to support an auction.  Because of the nature of the auction process and the 

undisclosed practices of Merrill Lynch regarding such auctions, such as the use of support bids, 

Community Trust could not determine if auctions were succeeding because of normal 

marketplace demand, or because Merrill Lynch and other broker-dealers were propping up 

auctions through support bids.  Merrill Lynch thus hid the true infirmities of the auction rate 

securities market and the illiquidity of such securities by such fraudulent and manipulative 

practices. 

INTRODUCTION 

16. This action is brought by Community Trust pursuant to Sections 10(b) of the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), Sections 292.320 and 292.480(1) of the 

Kentucky Securities Laws, pursuant to common law principles of fraud and breach of fiduciary 

duty and for negligent misrepresentations and omissions.   The Defendant, Merrill Lynch, 

represented to Community Trust and other institutional investors that auction rate securities were 
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equivalent to cash or money market funds, and that such securities were highly liquid, safe 

investments for short-term investing.  Merrill Lynch represented to Community Trust that such 

securities were suitable to the investment goals of an institutional investor such as Community 

Trust.  In addition, Merrill Lynch failed to disclose, among other material facts, the fact that the 

auction rate securities sold to Community Trust were illiquid, that the market for these securities 

was such that it was likely to collapse, leaving Community Trust with the inability to dispose of 

the securities purchased by it, and that Merrill Lynch itself was in effect acting both as a market 

maker concerning such securities and engaging in undisclosed fraudulent and manipulative 

practices designed to obscure the true nature of the auction rate securities market and the true 

illiquidity of such securities themselves. 

17. In January 2006, Community Trust purchased $10,050,000 worth of auction rate 

securities from Merrill Lynch.  Between January 2006 and the present date (the “Relevant 

Period”) Community Trust purchased such securities but since February 2008 has been unable to 

sell the vast majority of these securities because of Merrill Lynch’s conduct which substantially 

contributed to the collapse of the market for such securities in February 2008.  Community Trust 

still holds $9.9 million of the auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch.  Specifically, 

Community Trust purchased auction pass-through certificates, Series 2006-2, offered by Merrill 

Lynch through a $106 million private placement involving non-cumulative preferred stock in the 

Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie May”) held by a Trust established pursuant to 

the private placement presented and offered to institutional investors and the public by Merrill 

Lynch. 

18. In offering the auction rate securities involving Fannie May preferred stock to 

Community Trust and other institutional investors, Merrill Lynch knew of, but failed to disclose 

to Community Trust and others, material facts concerning the auction rate securities.  
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Specifically, Merrill Lynch knew but failed to disclose that the auction rate securities were not 

cash alternatives. 

19. Merrill Lynch also knew but failed to disclose that the auction rate securities were 

not suitable for an institutional investor such as Community Trust and were only liquid at the 

time of sale because Merrill Lynch and other broker-dealers were unofficially supporting and 

manipulating the auction market to maintain the appearance of liquidity and stability with respect 

to such securities and that Merrill Lynch was acting as a market maker for such securities.  

Merrill Lynch then knew but failed to disclose that auction rates securities would be illiquid as 

soon as Merrill Lynch and others stopped maintaining or supporting the auction market.   

20. On or about February 13, 2008, over 80% of all auctions of auction rate securities 

failed when Merrill Lynch and all other major broker-dealers refused to continue to support such 

auctions.  As a direct and proximate result of the withdrawal of such support by the major 

broker-dealers, including Merrill Lynch, the market for auction rate securities collapsed, leaving 

Community Trust and other holders of more then $300 billion in auction rate securities with no 

means of liquidating the investments which had been fraudulently and falsely and/or negligently 

represented, offered and sold to Community Trust and others as a safe and suitable alternative to 

money market funds and other short-term cash management vehicles.   

A. Merrill Lynch’s Fiduc iary Relationship With Community Trust.  
 

21. Over a period of a number of years, Community Trust relied on the skill, 

judgment and expertise of Merrill Lynch in purchasing numerous other investment vehicles or 

securities recommended to Community Trust and other institutional investors by Merrill Lynch.  

Community Trust continued to do so with respect to its purchase of auction rate securities. 
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22. Merrill Lynch had superior knowledge, skill, judgment and expertise regarding 

auction rate securities and was the only party in a position to know the truth of the 

representations made regarding auction rate securities in its dealings with Community Trust. 

23. Because of their prior relationship, which was founded on the trust or confidence 

reposed by Community Trust in the soundness and integrity of the investment recommendations 

made by Merrill Lynch, and in Merrill Lynch’s honesty and fidelity, Merrill Lynch owed 

Community Trust a duty to recommend suitable investments, to disclose all facts and to refrain 

from misrepresenting or misleading Community Trust as to the auction rate securities sold to it.     

B. The Material Misrepresentations And Omissions Regarding The Liquidity Of And 
Risks Associated With Auction Rate Securities, The Auction Market For Such 
Securities And Merrill Lynch’s Role In Such Market.  

                               
24. Auction rate securities were extremely profitable for Merrill Lynch and for the 

Merrill Lynch financial advisors who sold the securities.  As a large underwriter of auction rate 

securities, Merrill Lynch received significant underwriting fees from the issuers of these 

securities.  As one of the largest broker-dealers, Merrill Lynch also entered into broker-dealer 

agreements with the issuers and were paid an annualized broker-dealer fee for operating the 

auction process for auction rate securities and other investment vehicles.  Merrill Lynch also 

acted as a principal for its own account, using its access to inside information about the auction 

process to buy and sell auction rate securities for its own account and as a market maker to 

support or prop up the market for such securities.  Individual Merrill Lynch financial advisors 

had a significant financial incentive to sell auction rate securities because they were compensated 

by Merrill Lynch for each auction rate security sold. 

25. In order to perpetuate the auction market and to sell as many auction rate 

securities as possible, Merrill Lynch falsely and fraudulently and/or negligently misrepresented 

to investors in its written materials and uniform sales presentations to institutional investors that 
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auction rate securities were equivalent to cash and were highly liquid, safe investments for short-

term investing when it should have known such statements were inaccurate.   

26. Merrill Lynch fraudulently and/or negligently failed to adequately disclose to 

Community Trust and other purchasers of auction rate securities numerous material facts about 

these securities.  Among the material matters that were omitted were the following: 

(a) that Merrill Lynch had a clear conflict of interest because in the auction 

market Merrill Lynch was acting simultaneously on behalf of the issuer, 

who had an interest in paying the lowest possible interest rate, on behalf of 

the investor, who was seeking the highest possible return, and on their own 

behalf, to maximize the return to Merrill Lynch on their holdings of auction 

rate securities; 

(b) that Merrill Lynch was placing orders for its own account by using support 

bids to create a false sense of demand and were acting in ways that were 

fraudulent and manipulative in order to perpetuate a market for the auction 

rate securities it was selling to Community Trust and others; 

(c) that Merrill Lynch and other broker-dealers routinely intervened in auctions 

for their own economic benefit, to set rates and prevent all-hold auctions 

and failed auctions; 

(d) that Merrill Lynch was acting as a market vendor with respect to such 

securities and as such was acting in ways adverse to the interests of 

Community Trust; 

(e) that the auction rate securities they were selling were only liquid at the time 

of sale because Merrill Lynch and other broker-dealers in the auction 
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market were artificially supporting and manipulating the market to maintain 

the appearance of liquidity and stability; and 

(f)  that at the time auction rate securities were offered and sold to Community 

Trust, the ability of holders of auction rate securities to liquidate their 

positions depended on the maintenance of an artificial auction market 

maintained by Merrill Lynch and other broker-dealers.  When Merrill 

Lynch and the other broker-dealers stopped artificially supporting and 

manipulating the auction market, the market immediately collapsed and the 

auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch became illiquid. 

27. Despite failing to disclose these foregoing important and material facts, Merrill 

continued to aggressive ly market and sell auction rate securities to Community Trust and others. 

28. Merrill Lynch continued to aggressively market auction rate securities and 

continued to misrepresent to investors that these securities were secure, short-term cash 

equivalent investments even after Merrill Lynch had determined  that it and other broker-dealers 

would withdraw their support for the periodic auctions and that a “freeze” of the market for 

auction rate securities was imminent, which material facts were not disclosed by Merrill Lynch 

prior to the sale of such securities to Community Trust.  

29. At the time auction rate securities were offered and sold to Community Trust, 

Merrill Lynch also knew but fraudulently and/or negligently failed to disclose to Community 

Trust that the auctions it was conducting were not governed by arms- length transactions but were 

instead auctions that suffered from systemic flaws and manipulative practices, including the 

following:  (a) allowing certain customers to place open or market orders in auction; 

(b) intervening in auctions and bidding through Merrill’s own proprietary account; (c) asking 

customers to make or change orders; (d) preventing failed auctions or all-hold auctions to set the 
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market rate; (e) submitting or changing orders after auction deadlines; (f) not requiring 

customers to purchase partially-filled irrevocable orders which provided certain customers with 

higher returns than the auction clearing rate; and (g) providing inside information about the 

auction process to certain customers in connection with the auction bidding.   

C. The Collapse Of The Auction Rate Securities Market And Merrill’s Role In That 
Collapse.  

 
30. In the Summer of 2007, some auctions for auction rate securities backed by sub-

prime debt began to fail, but these securities represented only 2-6% of the entire auction rate 

securities market.  In the Fall-Winter of 2007, more auctions began to fail.  Even though some of 

the auctions that failed initially were conducted by Merrill Lynch, it continued to encourage 

investors to purchase auction rate securities and continued to represent to investors that these 

securities were the same as cash or money markets and were highly liquid, safe investments for 

short-term investing, without any disclosure of the increased risks associated with the securities.  

In addition, these material facts were not disclosed to investors such as Community Trust so that 

they would know the truth about the falsity of certain statements made to them at the time they 

purchased auction rate securities. 

31. On February 13, 2008, 87% of all auctions of auction rate securities failed when 

all of the major broker-dealers, including Merrill Lynch, refused to continue to support the 

auctions.  On February 14, 2008, it was disclosed that UBS, the second largest underwriter of 

auction rate securities, had decided to no longer support the auction market.  Virtually every 

other major broker-dealer, including Goldman Sachs, Lehman Brothers, Citigroup and Merrill 

Lynch, among others, also decided around the same time to withdraw their support of the auction 

market.  As a result of the withdrawal of support by all of the major broker-dealers, the market 

for auction securities collapsed, rendering more than $300 billion of outstanding securities 

illiquid. 
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32. As a result of the earlier materially false and misleading statements and/or 

negligent misrepresentations and fraudulent or negligent failures to disclose material facts, 

auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch traded at artificially inflated prices at the time 

auction rate securities were offered and sold to Community Trust.  Community Trust and others 

purchased and continued to hold the auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch relying upon 

the integrity of the auction market and the market price of those secur ities has been damaged by 

Merrill Lynch’s failure to disclose the material facts outlined above and by Merrill Lynch’s false 

and fraudulent and/or negligent misrepresentations concerning such securities and the market for 

them outlined above, ultimately resulting in the collapse of the market and the inability to sell 

such securities. 

33. At the time auction rate securities were offered and sold to Community Trust, 

Merrill Lynch materially misled Community Trust and the investing public, thereby allowing the 

auction market to continue and such accounts to be sold to Community Trust and others.  Merrill 

Lynch’s fraudulent and/or negligent conduct thereby inflated the price of the auction rate 

securities sold to Community Trust by Merrill Lynch publicly issuing fa lse and misleading 

and/or negligent statements and omitting to disclose material facts necessary to make Merrill 

Lynch’s statements to Community Trust outlined above not false and misleading or free from 

negligence.  Merrill Lynch’s statements and omissions were materially false and misleading 

and/or negligent in that they failed to disclose material adverse information and fraudulently 

and/or negligently misrepresented the truth about the auction market and the auction rate 

securities sold by Merrill Lynch. 

34. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions particularized 

in this Complaint directly or proximately caused or were a substantial contributing cause of the 

damages sustained by Community Trust which followed the collapse of the auction rate 
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securities market.  At the time auction rate securities were offered and sold to Community Trust, 

Merrill Lynch made or caused to be made a series of materially false or misleading and/or 

negligent statements about the auction market itself and the auction rate securities sold by Merrill 

Lynch.  These material misstatements and omissions had the cause and effect of perpetuating the 

auction market and creating in that market a false and unrealistically positive assessment of the 

auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch, thus causing those securities to be overvalued and 

artificially inflated at all relevant times.  Merrill Lynch’s materially false and misleading and/or 

negligent statements at the time the auction rate securities were offered and sold to Community 

Trust resulted in Community Trust and others purchasing and continuing to hold auction rate 

securities sold by Merrill Lynch at artificially inflated prices, thus causing the damages 

complained of herein. 

NO SAFE HARBOR 

35. The statutory safe harbor provided for forward-looking statements under certain 

circumstances does not apply to any of the allegedly false and/or negligent statements pleaded in 

this Complaint.  The statements pleaded herein were not identified as “forward- looking 

statements” when made.  To the extent there were any forward- looking statements, there were no 

meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause actual results to 

differ materially from those in the purportedly forward-looking statements.  Alternatively, to the 

extent that the statutory safe harbor does apply to any forward- looking statements pleaded 

herein, Merrill Lynch is liable for those false forward- looking statements because at the time 

each of those forward- looking statements was made, Merrill Lynch knew or should have known 

that the particular forward-looking statement was false, questionable or negligently or recklessly 

made, and/or the forward- looking statement was authorized and/or approved by an executive 

officer of Merrill Lynch who knew that those statements were false when made. 
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LOSS CAUSATION/ECONOMIC LOSS 

36. As outlined in this Complaint, Merrill Lynch engaged in a scheme and course of 

conduct to create a market for and to artificially inflate the price of auction rate securities sold by 

Merrill Lynch that operated as a fraud or deceit on purchasers of auction rate securities sold by 

Merrill Lynch by misrepresenting the liquidity of and risks associated with such securities.  

Merrill Lynch achieved this goal by making fa lse and misleading and/or negligent statements 

about the auction market and the nature of the auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch and 

by failing to disclose material facts concerning the auction rate securities sold and the market for 

such securities.  When Merrill Lynch’s prior misrepresentations and omissions were disclosed 

and became apparent to the investing public, Merrill Lynch and others withdrew from such 

markets, the market for auction rate securities collapsed and the auction rate securities sold by 

Merrill Lynch have become illiquid.  As a result of their purchases of auction rate securities from 

Merrill Lynch at the time auction rate securities were offered and sold to Community Trust, 

Community Trust and others suffered economic loss, i.e., damages under the federal securities 

laws in that the securities have substantially less value than that falsely and fraudulently 

represented by Merrill Lynch. 

37. The collapse of the auction rate securities market at the time auction rate 

securities were offered and sold to Community Trust was substantially contributed to by Merrill 

Lynch’s unilateral decision to no longer artificially support the auction rate securities market and 

as a result of the nature and extent of Merrill Lynch’s wrongful conduct finally being revealed to 

investors. 
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COUNT I 
 

(Violations Of Section 10(b) Of The Exchange Act And Rule 10b-5) 

38. Community Trust repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in 

Paragraphs 1 through 37 above of this Complaint as if set forth fully herein.  

39. During the Relevant Period set forth above, Merrill Lynch carried out a plan, 

scheme, and course of conduct that was intended to and, throughout the Relevant Period, did 

deceive the investing public, including Community Trust.   

40. In furtherance of this plan, Merrill Lynch made untrue statements of material fact 

regarding the liquidity and security of auction rate securities and/or omitted to state material facts 

necessary to make the statements not misleading, and engaged in acts, practices, and a course of 

business that operated as a fraud and deceit upon Community Trust in its purchase of auction rate 

securities in an effort to maintain artificially high sales and market prices for such securities.   

41. Merrill Lynch acted with knowledge that certain of its representations with 

respect to the auction rate securities were false or misleading, or at the least acted with reckless 

and deliberate disregard for the truth in that it failed to ascertain and to disclose the true facts 

concerning the liquidity and stability of auction rate securities. 

42. As a result of the dissemination of materially false and misleading information 

and the failure to disclose material facts, as set forth above, the market and market price of the 

auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch was inflated during the Relevant Period.  In 

ignorance of the fact that the market prices of auction rate securities were artificially inflated, 

and relying directly or indirectly on the false and misleading statements made or omitted to be 

made by Merrill Lynch, or upon the integrity of the auction market in which the auction rate 

securities were traded, and/or on the absence of material adverse information that was known to 

or deliberately disregarded by Merrill Lynch but not disclosed in public statements by Merrill 



 15 

Lynch during the Relevant Period, Community Trust purchased and continued to hold auction 

rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch at artificially high prices and was injured thereby.   

43. As a result of its fraudulent course of action, Merrill Lynch was able to sell 

millions of dollars of auction rate securities to Community Trust at inflated prices.  

44. Merrill Lynch directly benefited from the sale of these securities in multiple 

respects, and in particular through the receipt of commissions earned on such sales.   

45. Community Trust, despite its best efforts to engage in due diligence and protect 

its interests, did not have the ability to protect itself against Merrill Lynch’s intentional and 

material misrepresentations and omissions regarding the auction rate securities, and therefore 

reasonably relied on Merrill Lynch’s representations that the auction rate securities were liquid, 

cash equivalents and were secure investments.   

46. Had Community Trust known the truth regarding the liquidity of and risks 

associated with the auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch and other material facts which 

were not disclosed by Merrill Lynch, Community Trust would not have purchased the securities, 

or if it had acquired such securities during the Relevant Period, it would not have done so at the 

artificially inflated prices which they paid.   

47. By virtue of the foregoing, Merrill Lynch has violated Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.   

48. As a direct and proximate result of Merrill Lynch’s fraud in artificially inflating 

the market for auction rate securities and its misrepresentations regarding the liquidity and risks 

associated with auction rate securities, Community Trust has been damaged in connection with 

its purchase of auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch and is entitled to recover 

compensatory damages in an amount of at least $9.9 million plus pre-judgment and post-

judgment interest on that amount. 
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COUNT II 
 

(Violations Of Sections 292.320 And 292.480(1) Of The Kentucky Securities Laws) 

49. Community Trust repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in 

Paragraphs 1 through 48 above of this Complaint as if set forth fully herein.  

50. During the Relevant Period set forth above, Merrill Lynch carried out a plan, 

scheme, and course of conduct that was intended to and, throughout the Relevant Period, did 

deceive the investing public, including Community Trust.   

51. In furtherance of this plan, Merrill Lynch made untrue statements of material fact 

regarding the liquidity and security of auction rate securities and/or omitted to state material facts 

necessary to make the statements not misleading, and engaged in acts, practices, and a course of 

business that operated as a fraud and deceit upon Community Trust in its purchase of auction rate 

securities in an effort to maintain artificially high sales and market prices for such securities.   

52. Merrill Lynch acted with knowledge that certain of its representations with 

respect to the auction rate securities were false or misleading, or at the least acted with reckless 

and deliberate disregard for the truth in that it failed to ascertain and to disclose the true facts 

concerning the liquidity and stability of auction rate securities. 

53. As a result of the dissemination of ma terially false and misleading information 

and the failure to disclose material facts, as set forth above, the market and market price of the 

auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch was inflated during the Relevant Period.  In 

ignorance of the fact that the market prices of auction rate securities were artificially inflated, 

and relying directly or indirectly on the false and misleading statements made or omitted to be 

made by Merrill Lynch, or upon the integrity of the auction market in which the auction rate 

securities were trade, and/or on the absence of material adverse information that was known to or 

deliberately disregarded by Merrill Lynch but not disclosed in public statements by Merrill 
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Lynch during the Relevant Period, Community Trust purchased and continued to hold auction 

rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch at artificially high prices and was injured thereby.   

54. As a result of its fraudulent course of action, Merrill Lynch was able to sell 

millions of dollars of auction rate securities to Community Trust at inflated prices.  

55. Merrill Lynch directly benefited from the sale of these securities in multiple 

respects, and in particular through the receipt of commissions earned on such sales.   

56. Community Trust, despite its best efforts to engage in due diligence and protect 

its interests, did not have the ability to protect itself against Merrill Lynch’s intentional and 

material misrepresentations and omissions regarding the auction rate securities, and therefore 

reasonably relied on Merrill Lynch’s representations that the auction rate securities were liquid, 

cash equivalents and were secure investments.   

57. Had Community Trust known the truth regarding the liquidity of and risks 

associated with the auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch and other material facts which 

were not disclosed by Merrill Lynch, Community Trust would not have purchased the securities, 

or if it had acquired such securities during the Relevant Period, it would not have done so at the 

artificially inflated prices which they paid.   

58. By virtue of the foregoing, Merrill Lynch has violated Sections 292.320 and 

292.480(1) of the Kentucky Securities Laws. 

59. As a direct and proximate result of Merrill Lynch’s fraud in artificially inflating 

the market for auction rate securities and its misrepresentations regarding the liquidity and risks 

associated with auction rate securities, Community Trust has been damaged in connection with 

its purchase of auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch and is entitled to recover 

compensatory damages in an amount of at least $9.9 million plus pre-judgment and post-



 18 

judgment interest on that amount, as well as costs, attorneys fees, and all other relief to which 

Community Trust may be entitled pursuant to the Kentucky Securities Laws. 

COUNT III 
 

(Fraud And Deceit Under Kentucky Common Law) 
 

60. Community Trust repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in 

Paragraphs 1 through 59 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

61. The conduct of Merrill Lynch, described above, exacted a fraud upon Community 

Trust, from which wide-ranging compensatory and other damages have arisen.    

62. Specifically, Merrill Lynch knew or should have known that its material 

statements concerning the liquidity and short-term nature of auction rate securities were false.  

For example, auction rate securities were in fact long-term investments and were not liquid 

because the market was being artificially supported by Merrill Lynch and other broker dealers.  

These and other material facts were misrepresented as outlined above in this Complaint.   

63. Merrill Lynch knew or should have known, but failed to disclose, that the auction 

rate securities market was then likely to collapse, greatly diminishing the value of the securities, 

if Merrill Lynch or other broker-dealers ceased their artificial support of the market.  These and 

other material facts were omitted as outlined above in this Complaint.   

64. Merrill Lynch’s material misstatements and material omissions concerning the 

auction rate securities were made fraudulently with the intention of inducing Community Trust 

to purchase such securities. 

65. The nature of the auction rate securities market and the actions of Merrill Lynch 

rendered it impossible for Community Trust and other institutional investors to discover that the 

market was being artificially supported in the manner described above.   
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66. Community Trust reasonably relied on Merrill Lynch’s representations regarding 

the auction rates securities in making the decision to purchase and retain these securities.  Had 

Community Trust known that such material statements were false or if it had known of the 

material facts omitted by Merrill Lynch, it would not have purchased the auction rate securities. 

67. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions particularized 

in this Complaint were directly or proximately caused or were a substantial contributing cause of 

the compensatory and other damages sustained by Community Trust which followed the collapse 

of the auction rate securities market, as set forth more fully above in this Complaint.  

68. As a direct and proximate result of the fraudulent misrepresentations and 

omissions of Merrill Lynch, Community Trust is entitled to recover compensatory damages in an 

amount of at least $9.9 million plus both pre-judgment and post-judgment interest on that 

amount. 

69. The conduct of Merrill Lynch was fraudulent and deceitful and was carried out 

intentionally with the intent to harm Community Trust and with utter disregard for the rights of 

Community Trust. 

70. As a further direct and proximate result of the fraudulent misrepresentations and 

omissions of Merrill Lynch, Community Trust is entitled to recover punitive damages of at least 

$29.7 million, the exact amount of which will be established at trial. 

COUNT IV 

(Breach Of Fiduciary Duty) 

71. Community Trust repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in 

Paragraphs 1 through 70 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

72. The relationship existing between Community Trust and Merrill Lynch prior to 

the transactions described herein was fiduciary in nature, founded on the trust or confidence 
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reposed by Community Trust in the integrity and fidelity of Merrill Lynch’s investment 

recommendations.   

73. Because Merrill Lynch possessed superior knowledge, skill, judgment and 

expertise in the auction rate securities market, Community Trust relied upon the 

recommendations and representations of Merrill Lynch with respect to these securities.   

74. The relationship between the parties created a duty on Merrill Lynch to act 

honestly, fairly and in Community Trust’s best interest with respect to the provision of advice 

concerning these securities.  Merrill Lynch also had a further duty not to supply false, 

misleading, inaccurate or incomplete information with respect to the securities purchased by 

Community Trust. 

75. Merrill Lynch had a pecuniary interest in offering to sell and in selling the auction 

rate securities and was obligated to exercise reasonable care or competence in obtaining 

information, communicating information and providing guidance with respect to the auction rate 

securities and the auction rate securities market to Community Trust for the benefit and guidance 

of Community Trust.   

76. Merrill Lynch breached this duty by misrepresenting to Community Trust and to 

other institutional investors numerous material facts, including the representations that auction 

rate securities were equivalent to cash or money market funds and that such securities were 

highly liquid, safe investments for short-term investing.  Merrill Lynch also misrepresented to 

Community Trust the material fact that the auction rate securities being sold to Community Trust 

were suitable to the investment goals of an institutional investor such as Community Trust. 

77. Merrill Lynch also breached the fiduciary duty it owed to Community Trust by 

failing to fairly and honestly disclose, among other material facts, the fact that the auction rate 

securities sold to Community Trust were in reality illiquid, that the market for these securities 



 21 

was such that it was then likely to collapse, leaving Community Trust with the inability to 

dispose of the securities purchased by it.   

78. Merrill Lynch also breached the fiduciary duty it owed to Community Trust by 

failing to disclose that Merrill Lynch itself was in fact acting both as a market maker concerning 

such securities and engaging in undisclosed improper and manipulative practices designed to 

obscure the true nature of the auction rate securities market and the true illiquidity of such 

securities themselves.   

79. As a direct and proximate result of these breaches of fiduciary duty by Merrill 

Lynch, Community Trust has suffered pecuniary losses and damages for which Merrill Lynch is 

responsible.  As a direct and proximate result of such conduct, Community Trust is entitled to 

recover compensatory damages in an amount of at least $9.9 million plus both pre-judgment and 

post-judgment interest on that amount.   

80. In breaching the fiduciary duties owed to Community Trust, Merrill Lynch acted 

fraudulently, deceitfully and intentionally with the intent to harm Community Trust and with 

utter disregard for the rights of Community Trust.   

81. As a further direct and proximate result of the fraudulent, intentional and deceitful 

conduct of Merrill Lynch in breach of the fiduciary duties owed by it, Community Trust is 

entitled to recover punitive damages of at least $29.7 million, the exact amount of which will be 

established at trial.   

COUNT V 

(Negligent Misrepresentations And Omissions) 

82. Community Trust repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in 

Paragraphs 1 through 81 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 
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83. In offering to sell and in selling auction rate securities to Community Trust, 

Merrill Lynch had a duty not to supply false, misleading, inaccurate or incomplete information 

with respect to the securities purchased by Community Trust. 

84. Merrill Lynch had a pecuniary interest in offering to sell and selling the auction 

rate securities and was obligated to exercise reasonable care or competence in obtaining 

information, communicating information and providing guidance with respect to the auction rate 

securities and the auction rate securities market to Community Trust for the benefit and guidance 

of Community Trust.   

85. Merrill Lynch knew or should have known that Community Trust would rely 

upon statements made by it negligently or recklessly with respect to the auction rate securities 

being sold and with respect to the nature and integrity of the auction rate securities market.  

Merrill Lynch knew or should have known that the information provided to Community Trust or 

withheld from Community Trust would influence its decision to purchase or not purchase the 

auction rate securities offered to it.   

86. Merrill Lynch negligently or recklessly misrepresented to Community Trust and 

to other institutional investors that auction rate securities were equivalent to cash or money 

market funds and that such securities were highly liquid, safe investments for short-term 

investing.  Merrill Lynch also misrepresented to Community Trust the material fact that the 

auction rate securities being sold to Community Trust were suitable to the investment goals of an 

institutional investor such as Community Trust. 

87. Merrill Lynch negligently failed to disclose, among other material facts, the fact 

that the auction rate securities sold to Community Trust were in reality illiquid, that the market 

for these securities was such that it was then likely to collapse, leaving Community Trust with 

the inability to dispose of the securities purchased by it.  Merrill Lynch also failed to disclose 
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that Merrill Lynch itself was in fact acting both as a market maker concerning such securities and 

engaging in undisclosed improper and manipulative practices designed to obscure the true nature 

of the auction rate securities market and the true illiquidity of such securities themselves.   

88. At the time auction rate securities were offered and sold to Community Trust, 

Merrill Lynch negligently made or caused to be negligently made a series of false or misleading 

statements concerning the auction rate securities market itself and the auction rate securities 

offered and sold by Merrill Lynch.  Such negligently made material misstatements and omissions 

had the cause and effect of perpetuating the auction market and creating in that market a false 

and unrealistically positive assessment of the auction rate securities sold by Merrill Lynch.  Such 

negligent misrepresentations and omissions caused such securities to be overvalued and 

artificially inflated at all relevant times.  As a result of such negligent misrepresentations and 

omissions concerning the auction rate securities and the auction rate securities market, 

Community Trust purchased such securities and continued to hold them at artificially inflated 

prices, resulting in pecuniary damages being sustained by Community Trust.   

89. As a result of the numerous negligent misrepresentations and omissions by 

Merrill Lynch, Community Trust has suffered pecuniary losses and damages for which Merrill 

Lynch is responsible because of its failure to exercise reasonable care or competence in 

negligently misrepresenting or communicating materia l facts to Community Trust and in 

negligently failing to disclose other material facts which would have had a material bearing upon 

Community Trust’s decision to purchase or not purchase auction rate securities.   

90. Merrill Lynch breached its duty to exercise ordinary and reasonable care with 

respect to such negligent misrepresentations or omissions and as a direct and proximate result of 

such conduct, Community Trust is entitled to recover compensatory damages in an amount of at 

least $9.9 million plus both pre-judgment and post-judgment interest on that amount.   
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91. The conduct of Merrill Lynch was grossly negligent and was carried out in gross 

and utter disregard for the rights of Community Trust. 

92. As a further direct and proximate result of the grossly negligent 

misrepresentations and omissions of Merrill Lynch, Community Trust is entitled to recover 

punitive damages of at least $29.7 million, the exact amount of which will be established at trial. 

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff, Community Trust Bank, Inc., respectfully demands 

Judgment on its Complaint herein against the Defendant Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith 

Incorporated as follows: 

A. A Judgment on Count I of the Complaint for compensatory damages in excess of 

the minimum jurisdictional requirements of this Court; 

B. A Judgment on Count II of the Complaint for both compensatory and punitive 

damages in separate amounts, each in excess of the minimum jurisdictional 

requirements of this Court; 

C. A Judgment on Count III of the Complaint for compensatory and punitive 

damages in separate amounts, each in excess of the minimum jurisdictional 

requirements of this Court; 

D. A Judgment on Count IV of the Complaint for compensatory and punitive 

damages in separate amounts, each in excess of the minimum jurisdictional 

requirements of this Court; 

E. A Judgment on Count V of the Complaint for compensatory and punitive 

damages in separate amounts, each in excess of the minimum jurisdictional 

requirements of this Court; 

F. An Order requiring Merrill Lynch to buy back auction rate securities from 

Community Trust at par; 
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G. An Order directing Merrill Lynch to disgorge all gains and pay all restitution and 

damages caused, directly or indirectly, by the fraudulent and deceptive acts 

complained of herein; 

H. The payment of Community Trust’s costs, including attorneys’ fees as provided 

by law; 

I. Such further equitable or other relief as may be necessary to redress Merrill 

Lynch’s violations of federal and state law and which are just and proper; and 

J. A trial by jury on all claims set forth in the Complaint in Counts I through V so 

triable. 

  Respectfully submitted, 
 

  /s/ Richard A. Getty  
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